UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Spread Spectrum Based Digital-Intensive CMOS Radar System

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/6d0837z4

Author Huang, Rulin

Publication Date

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Spread Spectrum Based Digital-Intensive CMOS Radar System

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical and Computer Engineering

by

Rulin Huang

2022

© Copyright by

Rulin Huang

2022

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Spread Spectrum Based Digital-Intensive CMOS Radar System

by

Rulin Huang

Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical and Computer Engineering University of California, Los Angeles, 2022 Professor Mau-Chung Frank Chang, Chair

CMOS radar is a promising technique enabling applications like ground penetrating, weather observing, and even autonomous driving with its high integration level and cost effectiveness in mass production. Under an analog type waveform, performance of conventional linear frequency-modulated continuous-wave (FMCW) radar is heavily degraded by AM (envelop fluctuation) and FM (chirp non-linearity) distortions. In this dissertation, digital-intensive CMOS radar with digital modulated and coded waveform is proposed instead of using an analog chirp. Additionally, spread spectrum technique is adopted to expand radar signal across a wide bandwidth and therefore achieve good radar range resolution. Two digital-intensive radar systems and the fabricated CMOS implementations will be shown to demonstrate the proposed approaches. First, an 89-93 GHz frequency hopping spread spectrum (FHSS) based FHCW radar with 4-GHz bandwidth / 3.75-cm range resolution is developed and implemented for automotive application to tolerate multi-user interference. To effectively mitigate the radar interference under an multi-user scenario, frequency hopping technique with one-coincidence codes is used to achieve multiplexing in the code domain. The unique orthogonal property of these one-coincidence codes prevent different users from occupying the same frequency channel at the same time. A cost-effective TX/RX module with the 28-nm CMOS chip and a Rogers patch antenna is developed for over-the-air verification, whose results demonstrate the multi-user capability of this FHCW radar.

Second, a 0.1-4.0 GHz direct sequence spread spectrum (DS/SS) based all-digital radar SoC is proposed and fabricated in 28-nm CMOS for ground-penetrating application. A time-domain digital correlation-based time-of-flight measurement is employed for radar ranging instead of a chirp or pulse. The SoC offers complete programmability over frequency and bandwidth due to the nature of inductor-less design, which allows the ground-penetrating radar (GPR) to be adopted to various sub-surface conditions. In-field GPR test with actual rover prototype validates the capability of the DS/SS radar. The 28-nm prototype radar SoC achieves a fine resolution of 3.75 cm and consumes 46.2 mW, which makes it suitable for low power applications.

The dissertation of Rulin Huang is approved.

Danijela Cabric

Wentai Liu

Yuanxun Wang

Mau-Chung Frank Chang, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

2022

DEDICATION

To my dear parents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION			
LIST OF FIGURESix			
LIST OF TABLES xiii			
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSxiv			
VITAxvi			
SELECTED PUBLICATIONSxvi			
CHAPTER 1 Introduction			
1.1. Fundamentals of Radar System1			
1.2. Motivation2			
1.3. Dissertation Organization7			
CHAPTER 2 An 89-93 GHz Frequency Hopping Spread Spectrum (FHSS) Multi-User			
Interference-Tolerant Radar for Automotive Application in 28-nm CMOS8			
2.1. State-of-the-art CMOS Automotive Radar Systems			
2.2. New FHCW Radar with Interference-Tolerance Capability for Multi-User			
Application11			
2.2.1. FHCW Radar System11			
2.2.2. Radar Interference Analysis under Multi-User Scenario			

2.2.3. Code-domain Orthogonality with One-Coincidence Frequency Hopping
Codes16
2.2.4. System Analysis and Link Budget18
2.3. W-Band FHCW Radar Architecture and Circuit Design
2.3.1. FHCW Radar Top Level Architecture
2.3.2. LO Chain Design
2.3.3. Transmitter Design
2.3.4. Receiver Design
2.3.5. Antenna Design
2.4. Measurements and Discussions
2.4.1. Radar TX/RX Measurement
2.4.2. Radar Demonstration
CHAPTER 3 A 0.1-4 GHz Direct Sequence Spread Spectrum (DS/SS) Based All-Digital
Radar SoC for Ground-Penetrating Application in 28-nm CMOS
3.1. Introduction
3.2. New DS/SS Based Delay-Correlating Radar SoC for GPR Application43
3.2.1. DS/SS Radar System-on-chip
3.2.2. DS/SS Radar Ranging Principle
3.2.3. DS/SS Radar Range Bin 46
3.2.4. DS/SS Radar Dynamic Range Analysis

3.3. Radar Building Blocks and Key Circuit Design		
3.3.1. Radar Transmitter	52	
3.3.2. Clock PLL and DS/SS DSP	53	
3.3.3. Radar Receiver	54	
3.4. Measurements and Discussions	55	
3.4.1. Radar Loopback Test	57	
3.4.2. In Field GPR Test	58	
CHAPTER 4 Conclusion and Future Work	61	
REFERENCES		

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig 1.1	Diagram showing how radars acquire ranging information1
Fig 1.2	(a). FMCW radar time domain waveform. (b). FMCW radar frequency domain
waveform	with chirp non-linearity. (c). Ideal FMCW radar range profile after FFT. (d). Practical
FMCW ra	adar range profile after FFT due to chirp non-linearity
Fig 1.3	Concept of radars adopting digital modulated/coded waveform instead of
conventio	nal analog FMCW chirp
Fig 2.1	Block diagram of the FMCW radar transmitter in [2]9
Fig 2.2	Block diagram of the PMCW radar transmitter in [3]10
Fig 2.3	(a). 1GHz-BW PMCW radar spectrum. (b). 1GHz-BW FHCW radar spectrum11
Fig 2.4	Block diagram of the proposed FHCW radar transmitter12
Fig 2.5	(a). FMCW radar interference issues under a two car scenario. When (b). chirp A and
chirp B ha	ave the same rate; (c). two chirp rates are different but with the same polarity; (d). two
chirp rates	s are different and with opposite polarity14
Fig 2.6	(a). Comparison of the FHCW radar and FMCW radar waveform. (b). Delay
correlation	n and interference tolerance property of the adopted one-coincidence codes for the
FHCW ra	dar15
Fig 2.7	Block diagram of the W-band FHCW radar23
Fig 2.8	Detail of the LO chain, including schematic of (a). LO input buffer; (b). The

switched-capacitor unit; (c). CML latch and frequency divider; (d). Frequency doubler25
Fig 2.9 Schematic of (a) The TX IF I/Q up-converting mixer; (b). The TX I/Q combiner26
Fig 2.10 Schematics of the RF up-converting mixer and PA27
Fig 2.11 (a) Simulated gain plot of the PA. (c) Simulated Pin-Pout curve of the PA27
Fig 2.12 Schematic of (a) The RX IF I/Q down-converting mixer; (b). The RX CML-based
differential baseband amplifier
Fig 2.13 Schematics of the LNA and RF down-converting mixer
Fig 2.14 (a) Simulated LNA gain and RX NF. (b) Simulated Pin-Pout curve of the LNA30
Fig 2.15 (a) Simulated return loss S11 of the antenna. (b) Simulated XZ plane gain plot. (c).
Simulated 3-D antenna radiation pattern. (d). Series patch antenna HFSS model
Fig 2.16 Chip micrographs of (a) the radar TX chip; (b) the radar RX chip. (c) TX (RX)
module with the TX (RX) chip and a Rogers patch antenna
Fig 2.17 Spectrum of the transmitted FHCW radar signal (a) 89.5-90.5 GHz (1-GHz BW)
captured by a Keysight N9041B UXA signal analyzer; (b) 89-93 GHz (4-GHz BW) shown in
Keysight 89600 VSA (down-conversion through an Eravant 88-GHz mixer)35
Fig 2.18Phase noise profile of the transmitted FHCW radar signal
Fig 2.19 Radar demo setup: (a) Single-user test scenario; (b) Multiuser test scenario
Fig 2.20 Diagram of the setup used for the W-band FHCW radar multiuser interference
avoidance OTA test with patch antennas
Fig 2.21 Captured range profile from the interference avoidance test with two 89-93 GHz

FHCW ra	dars employing two different one-coincident codes, respectively
Fig 3.1	Proposed DS/SS based delay-correlating GPR 42
Fig 3.2	Block diagram of the DS/SS radar SoC44
Fig 3.3	Key time-domain waveform showing how the target is detected when the round-trip
time-of-fl	ight (ToF) matches counter delay of the receiver reference DS/SS sequence
Fig 3.4	(a) 3 continuous DS/SS codes and their auto-correlation functions. (b) Bin splitting
behavior	resulted from a misaligned captured DS/SS code [41]47
Fig 3.5	Thermal noise and the noise from uncorrelated code in the radar receiver
Fig 3.6	Dynamic range comparison between DS/SS and FMCW radar: (a) When two targets
are very o	close to each other. (b) When two targets are far away from each other
Fig 3.7	Building blocks of TX chain, and circuit implementation of the ring VCO 52
Fig 3.8	DS/SS radar DSP, and detail of the DS/SS sequence generator
Fig 3.9	Building blocks of the radar RX chain, and circuit implementation of the envelope
detector a	and correlator
Fig 3.10	(a) Chip micrograph. (b) Power breakdown of the DS/SS radar SoC56
Fig 3.11	(a) DS/SS GPR PCB detail. (b) DS/SS GPR SoC assembled to PCB 56
Fig 3.12	(a) Measured time-domain TX waveform with FC=1.5 GHz and BW=1.0 GHz. (b)
Measured	time-domain TX waveform with FC=2.5 GHz and BW=1.0 GHz57
Fig 3.13	TX to RX loopback test with a 2-meter external coaxial cable
Fig 3.14	DS/SS GPR SoC TX to RX loopback test result

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	System parameter for the W-band FHCW radar	19
Table 2.2	Link budget analysis of the W-band FHCW radar	21
Table 2.3	Summary of the radar TX/RX power consumption	34
Table 2.4	Performance summary of the FHCW radar and comparison with J	previous
state-of-the-	art mm-Wave CMOS radars	
Table 3.1	Performance summary of the DS/SS GPR SoC and comparison with J	previous
state-of-the-	art radars	60

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to gratefully thank my advisor, Professor M. C. Frank Chang, for his guidance, encouragement, and support during my graduate study in UCLA. Professor Chang taught me to first think from a system perspective, and then start to optimize every single part in the system. He encouraged me to think independently and critically. Professor Chang guided me to select the challenging and worthwhile research topics, and helped me understand how to design circuits and systems that may generate practical impact. Being a Ph.D. student in High-Speed Electronics Laboratory (HSEL), I am truly grateful for the great research opportunities and adequate tapeout resources in advanced technology nodes. Moreover, based on his experience, Professor Chang also gave me lots of good suggestions on how to pursue future career.

I would like to sincerely thank the other members of my committee, Professor Danijela Cabric, Professor Wentai Liu and Professor Yuanxun Ethan Wang, for their valuable suggestion, discussions, and their effort to serve on my committee. I am also very grateful to other faculties in the ECE department. I gain the fundamentals of integrated circuit design and communication system from their dedicated teaching.

I would also like to thank my lab mates, friends and colleagues. The member of HSEL is always my source of friendships as well as good discussions and collaborations. I would like to thank Yuan Du, Jieqiong Du, Yan Zhang, Jia Zhou, Weikang Qiao, Chia-Jen Liang, Andrew Liu and Christopher Chen, especially Boyu Hu, Adrian Tang, Rod Yanghyo Kim, Richard Al Hadi and Yan Zhao. I would like to express my special appreciation to Dr. Young-Kai Chen from Bell Labs, and HSEL alumnus Sai-Wang Tam, Alden Wang from Marvel for their great mentoring during my internship. I would also like to thank Professor Yen-Cheng Kuan and Ching-Wen Chiang from National Chiao Tung University, for their invaluable advice for this work and their help on the measurement.

Last but most importantly, I would like to give my greatest gratitude to my parents and my girlfriend. They give me their endless love and constant support. During my six and half years at UCLA, they are always with me and give me confidence to overcome the difficulties, especially during the pandemic time.

VITA

- 2015 B.E. (Hons.), Electrical Engineering, Zhejiang University
- 2016 High Speed I/O Design Intern, Bell Labs, Holmdel, USA
- 2017 M.S., Electrical Engineering, University of California, Los Angeles, USA
- 2018 RF Design Intern, Marvell Semiconductor, Inc, Santa Clara, USA
- 2021 Mixed-Signal and RF Design Intern, Qualcomm Technologies, Inc, San Diego, USA

SELECTED PUBLICATIONS

Rulin Huang, Yan Zhang, Emmanuel Decrossas, Anish Seshadri, Chia-Jen Liang, Mau-Chung Frank Chang and Adrian Tang, "A 46mW 0.1-4.0 GHz Inductor-less Direct-Sequence Spread-Spectrum Based Ground-Penetrating Radar SoC," *IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS)*, June 2021. (2021 IMS Student Paper Competition Finalist, further invited to IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters)

Rulin Huang, Ching-Wen Chiang, Chia-Jen Liang, Yanghyo Kim, Yen-Cheng Kuan and Mau-Chung Frank Chang, "A W-Band 4 GHz-BW Multi-User Interference-Tolerant Radar with 28-nm CMOS Front-Ends," *IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuits Conference (ASSCC)*, Nov. 2020. (2020 ASSCC Distinguished Design Award, further invited to IEEE Solid-State Circuits Letters) C. Chiang, **R. Huang**, C. Liang, C. Wu and Y. Kuan, "A 3-D Pillar-Based Electromagnetic Interference Shield for W-Band Antenna on Silicon Using Wire Bonding Technology," *IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging and Manufacturing Technology*, vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 2238-2241, Dec. 2021.

A. Tang, **R. Huang**, G. Virbila and M. -C. F. Chang, "Self-Synchronized DS/SS With High Spread Factors for Robust Millimeter-Wave Datalinks," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I (TCASI): Regular Papers*, vol. 68, no. 9, pp. 3941-3950, Sept. 2021.

C. Liang, Y. Zhang, C. Chiang, **R. Huang**, J. Zhou, J. Du, K. Wen, M.-C. Frank Chang and Y. Kuan, "A K/Ka/V Tri-Band Single-Signal-Path Receiver with Variable-Gain LNA and Constant-Gain Phase Shifter in 28-nm CMOS," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques (TMTT)*, vol. 69, no. 5, pp. 2579-2593, May 2021.

Y. Zhang, Y. Zhao, **R. Huang**, C. Liang, C. Chiang, Y. Kuan and M.-C. Frank Chang, "A 23.6-38.3 GHz Low-Noise PLL with Digital Ring Oscillator and Multi-Ratio Injection-Locked Dividers for Millimeter-Wave Sensing," *IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC)*, Aug. 2020.

A. Tang, R. Carey, G. Virbila, Y. Zhang, **R. Huang** and M.-C. Frank Chang, "A Delay-Correlating Direct-Sequence Spread-Spectrum (DS/SS) Radar System-on-Chip Operating at 183–205 GHz in 28 nm CMOS," *IEEE Transactions on Terahertz Science and Technology*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 212-220, March 2020.

Y. Kim, B. Hu, Y Du, W Cho, **R. Huang**, A. Tang, H. Chen, C. Jou, J. Cong, T. Itoh and M.-C. Frank Chang, "A Millimeter-Wave CMOS Transceiver With Digitally Pre-Distorted PAM-4 Modulation for Contactless Communications," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits (JSSC)*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1600-1612, June 2019.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1. Fundamentals of Radar System

Radar (radio detection and ranging) is a detection system that transmits and receives electromagnetic waves to resolve the range, velocity and angle information of targets. Since invented during World War II, radars have been widely used in many different applications in our daily life, such as automotive driving [1-6], weather detection [7], [8] and ground-penetration [9], [10]. Among different radar implementations, CMOS radar is a promising technique due to its high integration level, robustness, and cost effectiveness in mass production [11-13].

As shown in Fig. 1.1, radars acquire the ranging information of targets through resolving the time-of-flight (*ToF*) of propagating waves between different targets placed within a scene. Assuming there are two different targets in front of the radar. Target1 is distance d away from the radar while target2 is distance Δd further away from target1. By the definition of wave propagation, the distance of target 1 from the radar can be calculated by the following equation



Fig 1.1 Diagram showing how radars acquire ranging information

$$d = ToF \times c/2 \tag{1-1}$$

where *c* is the speed of light. Moreover, in order to resolve target1 and target2 that are spaced Δd ($\Delta d = \Delta ToF \times c/2$) away from each other, the adopted radar will need a Nyquist bandwidth of

$$B_N = 1/\Delta T o F \tag{1-2}$$

This equation applies regardless of the radar waveform type (pulse, chirp, spread waveform). Assuming the bandwidth of the adopted radar signal is BW, we know $BW \ge B_N$. Therefore, from (1-1) and (1-2), the fundamental radar range resolution equation can be derived as

$$\Delta d \ge c/2BW \tag{1-3}$$

Equation (1-3) shows that the achievable radar range resolution is only determined by the overall radar signal bandwidth. A larger bandwidth will promise a smaller range resolution [14].

1.2. Motivation

With a constant envelop and low-complexity implementation, linear frequency-modulated continuous-wave (FMCW) radar is used in the majority of automotive radars [15], [16]. Time domain and frequency domain waveforms of an FMCW radar are shown in Fig. 1.2(a) and (b), respectively. As illustrated in Fig. 1.2(b), a chirp (red curve) with an average slope of *SL* is transmitted and the received time-shifted echo signal (green curve) is demodulated against the same chirp to produce a beat frequency f_{beat} , which is proportional to the time-of-flight (*ToF*) of the target, formulating the FMCW ranging principle

$$f_{beat} = SL \times ToF = SL \times 2d/c \tag{1-4}$$



Fig 1.2 (a). FMCW radar time domain waveform. (b). FMCW radar frequency domain waveform with chirp non-linearity. (c). Ideal FMCW radar range profile after FFT.

(d). Practical FMCW radar range profile after FFT due to chirp non-linearity

However, there are two practical impairments that limit the performance of FMCW radar. Under an analog type waveform, AM (envelop fluctuation) and FM (chirp non-linearity) distortions will introduce significant performance degradation in an FMCW radar. With these non-ideal effects, the beat frequency f_{beat} will spread out over the entire spectrum, which is called tone splitting after baseband FFT [17].

In order to obtain a good range resolution, FMCW radars need to chirp across a large bandwidth. Therefore, the envelop fluctuation could be induced by the non-constant amplitude frequency response of practical RF and millimeter-wave (mm-Wave) circuits. In addition to the AM distortion, there is also FM distortion induced by chirp non-linearity, which is even more severe in an FMCW radar. From [18], chirp non-linearity is the key limiting factor in FMCW radar systems.

Phase-locked loop (PLL) with a wide tuning range voltage-controlled oscillator (VCO) usually serves as the chirp generator in an FMCW radar. As shown in Fig. 1.2(b), due to the nonlinear nature of VCO tuning characteristic and the PLL loop dynamic change induced from K_{VCO} variation, the generated FMCW chirp inevitably suffers from non-linearity. Fig. 1.2(c) and (d) compare the FMCW radar range profile, which is the intermediate frequency (IF) spectrum after baseband FFT without and with chirp non-linearity, respectively. Rather than a fixed beat frequency, under an non-linear chirp, the beat frequency becomes an frequency modulated signal and its energy will spread out. As a result, radar sensitivity is degraded and inaccurate detection may occur [2].

To relieve chirp non-linearity effect, segmentation technique is used for VCO varactor design in [2]. Varactors with three segmented bias is adopted to reduce the variation of the effective K_{VCO} across VCO control voltage and therefore extend the linear region of the generated chirp. The design achieves a chirp from 77 to 81 GHz with a rate of 340 MHz/us and the corresponding peak chirp non-linearity is +/- 0.2%. This technique works well for slow chirp, but for fast chirp generation, it can not satisfy the stringent requirement of ultra-short-range radar (USRR), which requires +/- 0.05% chirp non-linearity. In [18], a digital PLL with two point modulation (TPM) and digital pre-distortion (DPD) is presented for fast and linear chirp generation. 208 MHz-BW chirp centered at 23 GHz is achieved with a maximum rate of 173.3MHz/us and +/- 0.06% RMS chirp non-linearity. This work could barely satisfy the chirp linearity requirement of USRR, but the overall chirp bandwidth is limited and the required DPD background calibration consumes a lot of power. Therefore, developing new types of CMOS radars that are able to tolerate chirp non-linearity remains an active research topic.

From the history of communication system, we know that digital communication offers lots of benefits over traditional analog communication. Actually, it is very similar in a radar system. In comparison of analog type waveform, digital modulated waveform is more robust to circuit impairments and non-ideal effects. Moreover, a digital-intensive CMOS radar is more scaling-friendly with advanced CMOS technologies.

Fig. 1.3 shows the concept of new CMOS radars that adopt digital modulated/coded waveform instead of analog frequency chirp to overcome the AM (envelop fluctuation) and FM (chirp non-linearity) impairments. However, one follow-up question is how to preserve the required range resolution of the radar. Based on the fundamental radar resolution equation (1-3), in order to maintain range resolution, the radar signal bandwidth BW has to be the same as previous. Therefore, spread spectrum technique can be used in radar digital signal coding to expand radar signal over a certain bandwidth and maintain the required radar range resolution. Furthermore, spread spectrum technique also offers some interesting characteristics to the radar system, such as diversity.



Fig 1.3 Concept of radars adopting digital modulated/coded waveform instead of conventional analog FMCW chirp

In this dissertation, I report two new digital-intensive CMOS radar systems based on spread spectrum technique. First, I introduce an 89-93 GHz frequency hopping spread spectrum (FHSS) based multi-user interference-tolerant radar for automotive application in 28-nm CMOS process. In order to effectively mitigate radar interference in an multi-user scenario, one-coincidence codes spreading out of a 4-GHz bandwidth are developed. The unique orthogonal property of these one-coincidence codes prevent different users from occupying the same frequency channel at the same time. Thereafter, I propose a 0.1-4 GHz direct sequence spread spectrum (DS/SS) based all-digital radar SoC for ground-penetrating application in 28-nm CMOS process. With software defined carrier frequency and bandwidth, the DS/SS based inductor-free radar SoC can be adapted to any encountered sub-surface conditions, so as to overcome the penetration and resolution trade-off. Moreover, the DS/SS approach does not require a baseband FFT processing as the ranging information is naturally produced in time-domain, allowing for much lower power.

1.3. Dissertation Organization

The rest of the dissertation is organized as follows. Chapter 2 introduces a new concept of frequency hopping one-coincidence codes and presents an 89-94 GHz FHSS based multi-user radar for automotive application. Code domain multiplexing is obtained from the orthogonality of the one-coincidence codes and offers interference-tolerant capability to the radar system. Radar architecture, interference analysis under multi-user scenario, CMOS building blocks design and measurement results are also described in this chapter. Chapter 3 demonstrates a 0.1-4 GHz DS/SS based all-digital radar SoC for ground-penetrating application. Without using a single inductor, the proposed radar offers complete programmability over frequency and bandwidth. SoC architecture, radar ranging principle, dynamic range analysis, key building blocks design and a practical in field radar test are presented in this section. Finally, chapter 4 concludes the dissertation.

CHAPTER 2

An 89-93 GHz Frequency Hopping Spread Spectrum (FHSS) Multi-User Interference-Tolerant Radar for Automotive Application in 28-nm CMOS

This chapter will present an 89-93 GHz interference-tolerant frequency hopping continuous-wave (FHCW) radar capable of supporting simultaneous operations of multiple users over a 4-GHz bandwidth [19]. To effectively mitigate radar interference resulted from concurrent transmissions of multiple users, frequency hopping with corresponding one-coincidence codes is employed on each user. The unique orthogonal property of the one-coincidence codes prevent different users from occupying the same frequency channel at the same time, thus achieving multiplexing in code domain.

2.1. State-of-the-art CMOS Automotive Radar Systems

In the early 1970s, millimeter-wave (mm-Wave) radar system has been used for automotive application [11]. Since then, several generations of automotive radar system have been developed by different research institutes and automotive companies. Compared with its counterpart LiDAR and camera, mm-Wave radar provides superior robustness against bad weather conditions, such as rain, fog and snow [20]. Meanwhile, as an integration-friendly technology, CMOS process gradually dominates the market of low cost mm-Wave automotive radar over SiGe and other III-V technologies [21-23]. Regarding to the operation frequency,

Short range radar (SRR) locals near 24 GHz while long range radar (LRR) locals near 77 GHz [24], [25]. The antenna size and form factor of a 77 GHz radar are much more smaller than those of a 24 GHz radar.



Fig 2.1 Block diagram of the FMCW radar transmitter in [2]

In order to achieve better range resolution, recent published state-of-the-art CMOS automotive radar extends the overall bandwidth up to 4 GHz from 77 GHz to 81 GHz. In [2], MediaTek reported a 77-81 GHz FMCW automotive radar in 65-nm CMOS process, targeting at ultra-short range sensing and 360-degree surround view for parking assistance. The block diagram of the radar transmitter is shown in Fig 2.1. Direct frequency modulation architecture is used for chirp generation with a 13 GHz fractional-N PLL and an ×6 frequency multiplier. Since there is no mixing operation, the transmitter linearity performance is superior. However, under a 4-GHz BW, chirp non-linearity does degrade the radar overall performance. Even with varactor segment-biasing technique to reduce the variation of the effective K_{VCO} and therefore extend the linear region of the generated chirp, the radar still can not satisfy the stringent requirement of

ultra-short-range radar, which requires +/- 0.05% chirp non-linearity. For fast chirp generation with a rate of 340 MHz/us, the FMCW radar's reported peak chirp non-linearity of is +/- 0.2%. Furthermore, a large PLL chirping bandwidth degrades the overall phase noise performance.



Fig 2.2 Block diagram of the PMCW radar transmitter in [3]

To overcome the FMCW radar chirp non-linearity issue and obtain better range resolution profile, CMOS phase-modulated continuous wave (PMCW) radar is first introduced in [3] for pedestrian detection. Fig 2.2 shows the block diagram of the PMCW automotive radar. Direct conversion architecture is used here, where a pseudo-noise (PN) sequence directly modulates the differential output of a 79 GHz sub-harmonically injection locked oscillator (SH-ILO). Binary phase-shift keying (BPSK) is used for modulation and the ×5 SH-ILO VCO is injection locked to a 15.8 GHz external local oscillator (LO). The PMCW radar offers quite a lot advantages over conventional FMCW radar. First, there is no chirp non-linearity consideration anymore. Second, superior phase noise performance can be achieve for a fixed LO frequency. Third, the PN sequence offers diversity to the radar system, which is used for multiple-input-multiple-output (MIMO) radar operation to resolve angular information of the target in [3].

However, there are two factor that may limit the practical operation of a PMCW radar. Regarding to the implementation, the locking range of ×5 SH-ILO is very limited since it relies on the fifth-order harmonic of the 15.8 GHz LO. PVT variation could cause trouble to the normal operation of the ×5 SH-ILO as well. Moreover, from the system point of view, the instantaneous phase jumps from BPSK modulation introduce discontinuities in the time-domain waveform, which results in spectrum regrowth and poor sidelobe rejection. Additional harmonic rejection and pulse shaping circuits have to been implemented to suppress the sidelobe in [3].

2.2. New FHCW Radar with Interference-Tolerance Capability for Multi-User Application

2.2.1. FHCW Radar System

A new frequency hopping continuous-wave (FHCW) radar system is introduced in [19], which is able to support simultaneous operation of multiple users with its interference-tolerance capability.



Fig 2.3 (a). 1GHz-BW PMCW radar spectrum. (b). 1GHz-BW FHCW radar spectrum

Other than BPSK modulation used in a PMCW radar, frequency hopping spread spectrum (FHSS) is adopted in an FHCW radar to suppress the spectrum sidelobes. Fig 2.3 shows the spectrum comparison between PMCW and FHCW radar. For a PMCW radar under 1GHz-BW, the sidelobe rejection is 13dBc without cancellation technique, and it goes up to 20dBc by utilizing harmonic rejection circuit [3]. For an FHCW radar under 1GHz-BW, the sideband rejection is naturally 30dBc at 500MHz offset. It is obvious that FHCW radar has better sideband rejection performance in comparison with PMCW radar. Because phase discontinuity only occurs when the instantaneous frequency hops from one to another under FHSS, while it could occur for each symbol under BPSK modulation.



Fig 2.4 Block diagram of the proposed FHCW radar transmitter

Block diagram of the proposed 89-93 GHz FHCW radar transmitter is shown in Fig 2.4. Two-step conversion architecture is adopted with an external 36.4 GHz LO and an on-chip LO chain, which consists of an I/Q divider and a frequency doubler. This specific LO plan gets rid of the PVT-sensitive ×5 SH-ILO used in [3], promises a robust transceiver design. With a fixed LO frequency, phase noise performance can be further optimized.

Similar to a PMCW radar, with a digital coded waveform, there is no more chirp non-linearity issue in an FHCW radar. Meanwhile, because FHSS is used in baseband signaling for radar ranging, different frequency hopping orders naturally provide diversity to the FHCW radar system. This diversity property can be used to obtain interference-tolerance capability for multi-user automotive application, which is presented in the following sections.

2.2.2. Radar Interference Analysis under Multi-User Scenario

In practical autonomous driving applications that normally involve multiple vehicles, transmissions from adjacent vehicle radars inevitably cause interference, which may adversely affect the radar functionality and accuracy [26], [27]. In an FMCW radar, the chirp is not robust against interference in a multi-user scenario [2]. Take the two-car scenario depicted in Fig. 2.5 as an example, chirp B (from FMCW radar of car B) actually becomes an interference to chirp A (from FMCW radar of car A). If the rates (frequency ramp slopes) of chirp B and chirp A are the same, a ghost target will appear at the radar IF spectrum of car A. If these two chirp rates are different but have the same sign (positive or negative), the interference from chirp B will spread out as a strong narrowband signal. If these two chirp rates have opposite signs (one positive and one negative), the interference from chirp B will spread out as in-band noise. In all aforementioned cases (shown in Fig. 2.5(b), (c) and (d)), the interference may significantly

degrade the performance of an FMCW radar. Although bandpass filtering can be applied to mitigate FMCW radar interference, it only deals with the out-of-band interference; the ghost target or receiver sensitivity degradation caused by the in-band interference still remain [2].



Fig 2.5 (a). FMCW radar interference issues under a two car scenario. When (b). chirp A and chirp B have the same rate; (c). two chirp rates are different but with the same polarity; (d). two chirp rates are different and with opposite polarity



Fig 2.6 (a). Comparison of the FHCW radar and FMCW radar waveform. (b). Delay correlation and interference tolerance property of the adopted one-coincidence codes for

the FHCW radar

In order to effectively mitigate radar in-band and out-of-band interference in a multi-user scenario and overcome range accuracy challenge due to chirp non-linearity while providing fine

resolution, this work adopts the extended hyperbolic congruential (EHC) one-coincidence codes [27] and extends the radar bandwidth to 4 GHz to construct a W-band 89-93 GHz FHCW radar. The unique orthogonal property of these one-coincidence codes prevent different users from occupying the same frequency channel at the same time, thus supporting multiple users simultaneously. Moreover, wideband operation induced from frequency hopping enables a radar range resolution of 3.75 cm, which is equal to c/2BW where c is the light speed and BW is the radar bandwidth.

As shown in Fig. 2.6, rather than a linear frequency chirp used in FMCW radar, the waveform of an FHCW radar is a sequence of frequencies that hop with time. Frequency hopping spread spectrum technique is used here to provide multi-user multiplexing. Therefore, multiple radar users can be involved. For every user, a specific frequency hopping order is applied. When different users occupy the same frequency channel at the same time, the coincidence or a hit happens, causing interference to each other. One-coincidence code set has the property that the maximum number of hits between any different users is one [28], which minimizes the mutual interference among various users.

2.2.3. Code-domain Orthogonality with One-Coincidence Frequency Hopping Codes

The adopted one-coincidence frequency hopping code set for multi-user application is explained as follows: a total bandwidth BW is occupied by N frequency steps with a sub-channel bandwidth of BW/N. All the frequencies are non-repeating and the entire signal length is T

seconds. At the *k*-th time slot, the instantaneous frequency f_k is frequency modulated with respect to the carrier frequency f_0 by

$$f_k = f_o + y_i(k) \times (BW/N) \tag{2-1}$$

$$y_i(k) \in \{0, 1, \dots, N-1\}$$
 (2-2)

In the equation, *i* is the user identification number and $y_i(k)$ is the placement operator, which is a sequence of integers. Each user owns a unique $y_i(k)$. In order to provide a consistent interference tolerance performance, a well-defined code $y_i(k)$ is created for each user by optimizing cross-correlation [29]. For two user X and Y, the cross-correlation can be defined as

$$H_{XY}(\tau) = \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} h(X_i, Y_{i+\tau}), \quad 0 \le \tau \le N-1$$

where $h(X_i, Y_{i+\tau}) = \begin{cases} 0, & X_i \ne Y_{i+\tau} \\ 1, & X_i = Y_{i+\tau} \end{cases}$ (2-3)

Note when (2-3) applies to the same radar user X, H_{XX} () becomes auto-correlation function for itself. The one-coincidence code set [27] with optimum orthogonality and cross-correlation is adopted for this FHCW radar. For this code set, the maximum non-trivial correlation is then given by

$$H_{cross_max} = max\{H_{XY}(\tau), \tau = 0, 1, \dots, N-1\} = 1$$
(2-4)
$$H_{auto_max} = max\{H_{XX}(\tau), \tau = 1, 2, \dots, N-1\} = 0$$
(2-5)

which means only one coincidence or frequency hit happens between different users so as to minimize their mutual interference, while a thumbtack like auto-correlation function can be
maintain to avoid range-Doppler ambiguity [30]. The adopted one-coincidence code set can be obtained using congruential equation. For a total number of p-1 users, where p is a prime number > 2, the placement operator $y_i(k)$ is then defined as.

$$y_i(k) \equiv \begin{cases} (i \times k)^{-1} mod(p), & k = 1, 2, \dots, p-1 \\ 0, & k = 0 \end{cases}$$
(2-6)

By choosing the total frequency steps N = p, N-1 orthogonal one-coincidence codes can be obtained to accommodate N-1 users concurrently. For example, if N = 7, the radar waveform and interference tolerance property are shown in Fig. 2.6 (a) and (b), respectively. Each code $y_i(k)$ has 7 different frequency steps occupying 7 continuous time slots. Following are those 6 one-coincidence codes $y_i(k)$ for the 6 users, respectively.

$$User(i = 1): \{0,1,4,5,2,3,6\}; User(i = 2): \{0,4,2,6,1,5,3\};$$
$$User(i = 3): \{0,5,6,4,3,1,2\}; User(i = 4): \{0,2,1,3,4,6,5\};$$
(2-7)
$$User(i = 5): \{0,3,5,1,6,2,4\}; User(i = 6): \{0,6,3,2,5,4,1\};$$

2.2.4. System Analysis and Link Budget

To mitigate radar interference from different users while maintaining a good radar range resolution, an one-coincidence frequency hopping code set with a chip rate R_C of 4 Gsps and sequence length L_C is developed for the FHCW radar centered at 91 GHz. The finest achievable radar range resolution R_{res} is 3.75 cm, given by.

$$R_{res} = c/2R_c \tag{2-8}$$

where *c* is the speed of light. The sequence length is chosen to have a maximum unambiguous range R_{max} more than 30 m. With a sequence length L_C of 800, R_{max} is 30.45 m according to

$$R_{max} = cL_c/2R_c = R_{res}L_c \tag{2-9}$$

To fully utilize the 4 GHz radar bandwidth, 29 frequency steps with a sub-channel bandwidth of 138 MHz is allocated for the frequency hopping operation, which can accommodate 28 different users. System parameter for the W-band FHCW radar is summarized in Table 2.1.

Parameter	Symbol	Value	Unit
Carrier frequency	F_C	91	GHz
Chip rate	R_C	4	Gsps
Range resolution	Rres	3.75	cm
Max. Unambiguous range	R_{max}	30.45	m
Number of users	Nuser	28	
Total frequency steps	р	29	
Sequence length	L_C	800	chips
RX baseband total integration time	Tint	10	ms

Table 2.1 System parameter for the W-band FHCW radar

A link budget is then calculated based on the well-known radar equation [31]

$$P_{R} = G_{R}G_{T}P_{T}\sigma\lambda_{c}^{2}/(4\pi)^{3}R^{4}$$
(2-10)

where P_T and P_R are the transmitted power and received power, respectively, G_T and G_R are the antenna gain of the radar transmitter and receiver, respectively, σ is the radar cross section (RCS) of the target, λ_c is the wavelength at radar operation frequency and R is the target distance. From the results in [11], the RCS of an ordinary car is assume to be 0 dBsm in this paper. At 91 GHz, based on our research [32], [33], 3 dBi transmit and receiver antenna gain with the feeding loss considered can be achieved using low loss substrate material such as Rogers 4003C. Maximum unambiguous range R_{max} is used for path loss calculation. Based on these parameters, with 10 dBm transmitted power, the received power $P_R = -126$ dBm given by (2-10), which is very low. However, because the radar signal is correlated to itself while noise is totally uncorrelated by its nature, digital processing gain resulted from correlation and integration at the receiver baseband can help improve the overall SNR [3]. With a total integration time $T_{im} = 10$ ms. The digital processing gain is G_{int} is 76 dB, according to

$$G_{int} = 10 \log_{10} \left(T_{int} / T_C \right) \tag{2-11}$$

When arriving at the receiver input, the received signal power needs to be higher than the receiver sensitivity, of which is defined in the following equation in decibel meters [34]

$$P_{sen} = -174 \, dBm/Hz + NF + 10 \log_{10} B + SNR - G_{int} \qquad (2-12)$$

where -174 dBm/Hz is thermal noise floor at room temperature, NF is the receiver noise figure in decibels, B is the radar bandwidth in hertz. With an estimate receiver NF of 10 dB, the calculated noise power refer to the receiver input $P_N = -68$ dBm. Consider the 76 dB baseband processing

gain, the overall $SNR = P_R - P_N + G_{int} = 18$ dB, which fulfill the 16 dB SNR requirements for 99% detection probability and 10⁻¹⁰ false alarm ratio [31]. Table 2.2 summarizes the link budget analysis for the W-band FHCW radar.

Parameter	Symbol	Value	Unit
Transmitted power	P_T	10	dBm
Antenna gain	G_{T} , G_{T}	3	dBi
Target RCS	σ	0	dBsm
Pathloss	$\lambda_c^2/[(4\pi)^3 R^4]$	-142	dB
Received power	P_R	-126	dBm
Receiver noise figure	NF	10	dB
Radar bandwidth	В	4	GHz
Noise power refer to RX input	P_N	-68	dBm
RX baseband processing gain	Gint	76	dB
Signal-to-noise ratio	SNR	18	dB

 Table 2.2
 Link budget analysis of the W-band FHCW radar

Doppler effect induced by the moving target can also be detected under the frequency-hopping scheme. Delay correlation is performed to acquire the range profile of the target at the radar receiver, which is a linear function in terms of signal processing. Therefore, all the information related to Doppler-induced frequency shift will still remain after the delay correlator. If an FFT engine is placed after the delay correlator, the Doppler profile of the moving target can be detected from the spectrum after FFT. Furthermore, to minimize the phase

coherence disturbance and therefore the velocity detection disturbance in a Doppler detection, two approaches are used during the implementation: First, minimize the phase discontinuous of the one-coincidence frequency hopping code waveform (with smooth transitions during frequency hopping) when the waveform is generated. Second, the same LO is provided to the radar transmitter and receiver to keep the phases of the up-converted and down-converted radar signals coherent.

For a typical radar system, where transmitter (TX) and receiver (RX) operate at the same time, the TX-to-RX leakage is a severe practical problem [4], [35]. Leakage can occur through coupling either on-chip or on printed circuit board (PCB). Limited isolation between TX and RX antenna will also introduce leakage. The TX-to-RX leakage can be modeled as a large target at very short distance. With the effect of TX LO phase noise, radar RX sensitivity will be heavily degraded. For demonstration purpose, we design the radar TX and RX on separate dies and assemble them on dedicated PCBs.

2.3. W-Band FHCW Radar Architecture and Circuit Design

2.3.1. FHCW Radar Top Level Architecture

Block diagram of the W-band FHCW radar is shown in Fig. 2.7. The conventional direct frequency modulation architecture is not used here because in general the phase locked loop settling time significantly limits the frequency hopping rate. Therefore, a fast settling frequency synthesizer with highly linear slope is no longer required. Superheterodyne (two step conversion)



Fig 2.7 Block diagram of the W-band FHCW radar

architecture with two step conversion is adopted for the transmitter (TX) and receiver (RX) to achieve better performance in terms of I/Q imbalance and in-band LO leakage, which is essential for the frequency hopping operation. On the TX side, an I/Q mixer up-converts the baseband I/Q signal to an IF centered at 18.2 GHz. A second RF mixer up-converts the IF signal to W-band through a 72.8 GHz LO, while a power amplifier (PA) further amplifies the RF radar signal. A series patch antenna is designed on Rogers substrate to serve as TX and RX antenna. On the RX side, a low-noise amplifier (LNA) amplifies the received radar signal prior to the two-step down-conversion, from W-band to IF centered at 18.2 GHz and from IF to I/Q baseband, respectively. Delay correlation is performed at baseband (BB) to get the target range profile. A common 36.4 GHz LO is fed to the TX and RX chip externally, while a current-mode logic (CML) based divider further provides 18.2 GHz quadrature LO signal for the IF mixer and a frequency doubler further provides 72.8 GHz LO signal for the RF mixer. USART (universal synchronous/asynchronous receiver/transmitter) serves as the on-chip digital control interface.

2.3.2. LO Chain Design

The radar TX and RX share the same LO chain design. As shown in Fig. 2.8(a), an LO buffer is designed to amplify the external 36.4 GHz LO signal and provide enough input swing for the CML divider and frequency doubler. A transformer based input balun is employed to realize single-ended to differential conversion. Ultra-thick metal M7 is used for transformer primary coil while thick metal M6 is used for secondary coil to reduce insertion loss. In order to make the differential signal on the transformer secondary side more symmetrical, the overlap between the primary and secondary coils is reduced to minimize the parasitic capacitance induced from overlapping, which causes odd-mode coupling [36]. An 8-bit R-2R based digital-to-analog converter (DAC) controlled by USART provides the bias voltage for the input common-source pair M0A/M0B. On each sides of the loading transformer, a 3-bit thermometer coded switched-capacitor bank is added to fine tuning the resonator frequency of the tank, therefore providing gain control for the LO buffer. The schematic of the switched-capacitor unit is shown in Fig. 2.8(b), the switch consists of 3 transistors in π -configuration (MS1, MS2 and MS3) and they are designed to balance R_{ON} and C_{OFF} . 8 fF Metal-Oxide-Metal (MOM) capacitor from M3 to M5 is used for CS1/CS2.



Fig 2.8 Detail of the LO chain, including schematic of (a). LO input buffer; (b). The switched-capacitor unit; (c). CML latch and frequency divider; (d). Frequency doubler

The CML divider's schematic is shown in Fig. 2.8(c), which consists of two identical CML latches. 18.2 GHz quadrature signal is obtained at the output of each latch. Inductor peaking is not needed to divide down from 36.4 GHz to 18.2 GHz with advanced technology node. The divider's minimum required differential input swing over different process corner is 80 mV in simulation, which can be sufficiently supported by the LO buffer. The schematic of the frequency doubler is shown in Fig. 2.8(d). The second order harmonic current is generated by the push-push pair M1A/M1B, and then injected into the transformer-based resonator tank. DC bias of the push-push pair can be adjusted to obtain the strongest second order harmonic over PVT variations.

2.3.3. Transmitter Design

The radar TX consists of source follower based baseband buffers, a passive IF quadrature up-converting mixer, an IF voltage-to-current converter for I/Q combining, an RF active mixer, and a 3-stage differential PA.



Fig 2.9 Schematic of (a) The TX IF I/Q up-converting mixer; (b). The TX I/Q combiner



Fig 2.10 Schematics of the RF up-converting mixer and PA



Fig 2.11 (a) Simulated gain plot of the PA. (c) Simulated P_{in}-P_{out} curve of the PA

Schematic of the TX IF I/Q up-converting mixer is shown in Fig. 2.9(a), it is a passive voltage-mode double-balanced quadrature mixer with AC coupling to the next stage, which is a transformer loaded variable gain amplifier (VGA) providing IF gain control. An I/Q combiner is

implemented after the VGA. As shown in Fig. 2.9(b), transistor pairs MP1/MP2 and MN1/MN2 convert the voltage in both I-path and Q-path into current with the desired polarity.

Fig. 2.10 shows the schematics of the RF up-converting mixer and the differential PA. Transformers are used for PA inter-stage and output matching. Before physical layout and EM simulation, a transformer lumped model is first parameterized to accelerate the design procedure, which includes transformer conductive resistance R_s , parasitic capacitance between the differential feeding traces C_P , primary coil inductance L_1 and secondary coil inductance L_2 [37]. The 1st and 2nd stages of the PA adopt a cascode topology to provide gain, while the 3rd stage adopts a common-source topology for headroom and linearity enhancement. A power detector is placed at the PA's 3rd stage to assist bias control. The PA output power can be reconfigured depending on target range by controlling the bias voltage of the input differential pair.

In simulation, the overall PA achieves 12.3 dB maximum gain at 91 GHz and a 3-dB bandwidth from 87.5 GHz to 95 GHz, as shown in Fig. 2.11(a). The simulated P_{in} - P_{out} curve of the PA is shown in Fig. 2.11(b), the PA OP_{1dB} is 3.5 dBm and P_{sat} is 7.6 dBm. For the radar TX, dynamic range is limited by the PA. However, since the frequency-hopping radar waveform has a constant envelope, the PA does not need to be backed off deeply and can operate in a region close to saturation.

2.3.4. Receiver Design

The radar RX consists of a 2-stage differential low noise amplifier, a passive RF down-converting mixer followed by a transformer-based VGA, an IF quadrature down-converting mixer, and 3-stage CML-based differential baseband amplifiers.

Fig. 2.12(a) shows the schematic of the RX IF I/Q down-converting mixer, which is an active Gilbert-cell-based double-balanced quadrature mixer with resistive load. For the RX baseband amplifier, a 3-stage CML-based differential amplifier is used. Digitally controlled current sources is embedded in the CML amplifier using R-2R DACs to provide baseband gain control, as shown in Fig. 2.12(b).



Fig 2.12 Schematic of (a) The RX IF I/Q down-converting mixer; (b). The RX

CML-based differential baseband amplifier

The schematics of the LNA and RF down-converting mixer are shown in Fig. 2.13. An on-chip balun converts the received radar signal from a patch antenna into a differential signal, and offers

ESD protection for the LNA. To avoid desensitization resulted from TX-RX leakage and coupling as well as other unexpected reflections, the LNA is designed to trade off between linearity and noise figure. The C_{gd} of the g_m device (M1A/M1B) is neutralized by M1C/M1D to improve gain and stability, and M1C/M1D is more robust against process variation than an MOM capacitor.



Fig 2.13 Schematics of the LNA and RF down-converting mixer



Fig 2.14 (a) Simulated LNA gain and RX NF. (b) Simulated P_{in}-P_{out} curve of the LNA

Simulated LNA gain and RX NF are given in Fig. 2.14(a), 9.8 dB LNA gain is achieved at 91 GHz with a 3 dB bandwidth of 6.5 GHz. NF of the overall RX is less than 10 dB from 85 GHz to 97.5 GHz, and the minimum NF is 9 dB at 91 GHz. The simulated P_{in}-P_{out} curve of the LNA is shown in Fig. 2.14(b), IP_{1dB} of the LNA is -12 dBm. A passive RF down-converting mixer is employed in this design to enhance linearity. To properly receive a significantly varying echo signal, the gains of the LNA, the RF and baseband amplifiers can be tuned through the on-chip adjustable bias currents and voltages, which are controlled externally through the on-chip digital control interface (USART).

2.3.5. Antenna Design

In order to perform over-the-air measurement and validate the radar system performance, a W-band series patch antenna is designed using High-Frequency Structural Simulator (HFSS). Rogers 4003C with a dielectric constant of 3.55 is adopted as the TX and RX antenna substrate. Under 200um dielectric layer thickness and 18um copper layer thickness, an 1×4 patch antenna array with optimized element length of 0.915 mm and width of 0.75 mm is designed. As shown in Fig. 2.15(a), -10 dB return loss S₁₁ is achieved across the radar bandwidth from 89 GHz to 93 GHz. The simulated antenna gain is 10.5 dBi, as illustrated in the XZ plane gain plot (Fig. 2.15(b)) and 3-D antenna radiation pattern (Fig. 2.15(c)). Detail of the series patch antenna model in HFSS is shown in Fig. 2.15(d).



Fig 2.15 (a) Simulated return loss S11 of the antenna. (b) Simulated XZ plane gain plot. (c). Simulated 3-D antenna radiation pattern. (d). Series patch antenna HFSS model

2.4. Measurements and Discussions

The W-band FHCW radar TX and RX chips are fabricated in 28-nm CMOS technology with seven metal layers and an ultra-thick top metal of 3.5 um. Fig. 2.16(a) and (b) show the TX and RX chip micrographs, respectively. The chip area including pads is 1.44mm² for the TX chip and 1.31mm² for the RX chip.





(c)

Fig 2.16 Chip micrographs of (a) the radar TX chip; (b) the radar RX chip. (c) TX (RX) module with the TX (RX) chip and a Rogers patch antenna

The typical conversion gains of the TX and RX are 9 dB and 30 dB, respectively. Under a 0.9-V supply, the TX and RX chips consume 145 mW and 128 mW, respectively. Power breakdown between circuit blocks in the TX and RX is summarized in Table 2.3. As depicted in Fig. 2.16(c), a cost-effective TX (RX) module with the TX (RX) chip, a Rogers patch antenna, and FR4 substrate is designed and fabricated with wire-bonding assembly. For chip-to-antenna

interconnection, the length of bondwires are kept below 200 um to reduce insertion loss and maintain decent impedance matching at the operation frequency.

	Circuit Block	Power (mW)
	IF Chain	27.2
\mathbf{TV}	RF Mixer	8.5
	PA	43
	TX LO and other buffer stages	66.3
	LNA and RF Mixer	23.1
DV	IF Chain	19.6
КА	Baseband Amplifier	16.2
	RX LO and other buffer stages	69.1
	Total	273

Table 2.3 Summary of the radar TX/RX power consumption

2.4.1. Radar TX/RX Measurement

The over-the-air (OTA) measurement is conducted with the TX and RX modules to authentically characterize the overall performance of the FHCW radar. First, a Keysight N9041B UXA signal analyzer with a horn antenna is used to capture an 89.5-90.5 GHz FHCW signal transmitted by the TX module. Fig. 2.17(a) shows the captured 1-GHz spectrum. Second, to avoid the equipment's relatively high noise floor at W-band for better characterizing the radar signal, an 89-93 GHz FHCW signal (transmitted by the same TX module) is first down-converted by an Eravant 88-GHz mixer and then sampled by a Keysight MSOS054A Oscilloscope. Fig. 2.17(b) shows the captured 4-GHz spectrum in a Keysight 89600 vector signal analyzer (VSA).



Fig 2.17 Spectrum of the transmitted FHCW radar signal (a) 89.5-90.5 GHz (1-GHz BW) captured by a Keysight N9041B UXA signal analyzer; (b) 89-93 GHz (4-GHz BW) shown in Keysight 89600 VSA (down-conversion through an Eravant 88-GHz mixer)

Phase noise (PN) profile of the transmitted FHCW radar signal is shown in Fig. 2.18. The measured PN is less than -110.0 dBc/Hz at 1MHz offset from a 91-GHz carrier frequency. This superior phase noise performance is obtained mainly from a clean external LO source and the carefully designed LO circuits. The transmitted output power is measured to be 7.1 dBm, the measured TX LO leakage is less than -25 dBm, and image rejection ratio (IRR) is larger than 28.3 dBc. The RX NF is 10 dB and IP_{1dB} is -12 dBm over 89-93 GHz.



Fig 2.18 Phase noise profile of the transmitted FHCW radar signal

2.4.2. Radar Demonstration

As shown in Fig. 2.19(a), a single user OTA radar test is first conducted to characterize the FHCW radar end-to-end system performance. Second, a multi-user OTA radar test is performed so as to verify interference-tolerant capability of the FHCW radar, which is shown in Fig. 2.19(b).

The setup for multi-user OTA radar test is depicted in Fig. 2.20, with two different transmitter (TX1, TX2) and one receiver (RX1) involved. TX1 and RX1 serve as the radar device under test (DUT) while TX2 is configured as another user injecting the interference to RX1. Two different frequency hopping codes are used for TX1 and TX2, respectively, and their corresponding signals are generated by a 4-channel arbitrary waveform generator (AWG) M9502A. TX1 and TX2 simultaneously point to the same target, which is a metallic plate 0.5 m

away. RX1 receives the two 89-93 GHz FHCW signals from TX1 and TX2 at the same time, respectively. Baseband output data stream of RX1 is sampled by a Keysight MSOS054A Oscilloscope and then decoded by a FHCW decoder realized in MATLAB.



Fig 2.19 Radar demo setup: (a) Single-user test scenario; (b) Multiuser test scenario



Fig 2.20 Diagram of the setup used for the W-band FHCW radar multiuser interference

avoidance OTA test with patch antennas



Fig 2.21 Captured range profile from the interference avoidance test with two 89-93 GHz FHCW radars employing two different one-coincident codes, respectively

Fig. 2.21 presents the results of the multi-user OTA test. Two measurement cases are conducted. First, the distance is measured in the reference position (blue curve). Second, the target is moved 3.75 cm (range resolution corresponding to 4-GHz BW) further away from the radar (red curve). Under both cases, clear peaks at 0.5 m are visible, and the interference from the other user (gray curve) is effectively eliminated in the code domain, causing no detection performance degradation.

The promising results demonstrate the multi-user interference avoidance feature provided by the chosen one-coincidence frequency hopping codes. Measured performance in comparison with prior reported state-of-the-art mm-Wave CMOS radars is summarized in Table 2.4. This unique work provides the first interference-tolerant solution for multi-user radar scenario with low chip area (2.75 mm²) and the lowest power consumption (273 mW) per TRX.

	This work	[1]	[2]	[4]	[5]	[9]
Technology	28nm	65nm	65mm	28nm	45nm	28nm
ò	CMUS	CMUS	CMUS	CMUS	CMUS	CMUS
Radar Type	FHCW	FMCW	FMCW	PMCW	FMCW	GMSK PMCW
Multi-user Capability	Yes	No	No	No	No	No
Center Frequency (GHz)	16	77	62	62	6L/LL	6L/LL
Mod BW (GHz)	+	1.93	4	2	4	2
TX Pout (dBm)	7.1	13.2	13	8.5	10.8	8.8^{1}
PN (dBc/Hz) @ 1 MHz	-118	-87	-91	-85	16-	-110
LO Source	IQ Div+Doubler Ext. Sig. Gen.	Internal PLL	Internal PLL	Internal PLL	Internal PLL	Ext. PLL
RX NF (dB)	10	5	13	12	18	13
RX IP _{1dB} (dBm)	-12	I	-7.5	I	L-	-6.7
Chip Area/#TRX (mm²)	2.75	4.64	2.3	3.95	22 (3TX+4RX)	14 (12TX+8RX)
Power Cons./#TRX (mW)	273	343	700	500	3500 ² (3TX+4RX)	9500 ³ (12TX+8RX)
Ant Gain (dBi)	10.5	1	2	1	I	1
Antenna Type	1x4 Patch	1	in-Package	4x4 Patch	-	I
Antenna Size (mm²)	4x10	I	6x6	20x40	Ι	Ι
¹ Total chip output power for 1. ² The power is measured for fu 3 The power is measured for ov	2 TX is 19.6 dBm. Il chip (3TX+4RX) ur /erall SoC (12TX+8R	nder full duty cycle o X) under full duty cy	peration. cle operation.			

Table 2.4 Performance summary of the FHCW radar and comparison with previous

state-of-the-art mm-Wave CMOS radars

CHAPTER 3

A 0.1-4 GHz Direct Sequence Spread Spectrum (DS/SS) Based All-Digital Radar SoC for Ground-Penetrating Application in 28-nm CMOS

This chapter will propose a 0.1-4.0 GHz broadband serial direct-sequence spread-spectrum (DS/SS) based inductor-free ground-penetrating radar (GPR) system-on-chip (SoC). A time-domain digital correlation-based time-of-flight measurement is employed for radar ranging instead of a frequency chirp or pulse [9], which allows a higher degree of flexibility. With no conventional RF up/down conversion present, the radar offers complete programmability over frequency and bandwidth up to 4.0 GHz. Additionally, since the power hungry FFT processing is no longer required, the DS/SS GPR is highly suitable for low power applications such as planetary exploration.

3.1. Introduction

Ground-penetrating radar (GPR) is a long established technology that can penetrate beneath the ground and help investigate sub-surface environments. It has many applications from surveying construction sites for detecting hazardous buried objects to archaeological excavation for detecting buried artefacts. Moreover, GPR is also an indispensable tool for NASA, ESA and others to explore the remote planetary bodies. Two recent examples are the RimFax GPR launched on NASA's Mars Perseverance Rover and the Wisdom GPR on ESA's ExoMars Rover mission [38], [39]. GPR allows scientists to peer beneath the surface of planetary bodies and even detect possible water deposits under sub-surface. These space missions present several challenges for GPR implemented with conventional RFIC-style circuitry (with inductor based filters and up/down-converters), most notably that the frequency and bandwidth of the radar must be committed to at the design time. This means that the penetration and resolution trade-off [40] (bigger λ for more penetration / smaller λ for better resolution) must also be committed to prior to the launch time. This is extremely problematic as little is known about the sub-surface conditions that may be encountered before the GPR measurement. In addition, power consumption is another constrain for applications like planetary exploration. Without much sunlight, power will be extremely limited, so a very low power GPR system is required.

Comparing with automotive and other radar systems, GPR is very unique regarding to its operation frequency and the target property [10]. In order to penetrate most surface materials, GPR usually operates at low frequency, for example in the range of 0.5-5 GHz. However, wide fractional bandwidth is still required to get a good range resolution based on equation (1-3). Moreover, since GPR penetrates beneath ground, the typical detection range is 0.1-10 m, and the round-trip loss can be more than 50 dB [10]. For the GPR target property, static scenes with no scatterer in motion is usually considered. Therefore, Doppler related effects is typically neglect in a GPR system. These unique considerations, including a low carrier frequency and a relative high fractional bandwidth actually pose a challenge to the design of conventional FMCW radar.

applications where the scene is static and no constraint is placed on acquisition time.

To address the above issues, a 0.1-4 GHz energy efficient direct-sequence spread-spectrum (DS/SS) based inductor-free GPR SoC is proposed. As shown in Fig. 3.1, the DS/SS GPR transmits and receives a DS/SS sequence for ranging instead of conventional FMCW chirp. DS/SS sequence is essentially a random bit sequence with equal probably of 0 and 1. At the receiver, delay correlation is performed in analog domain to get the target range information, and therefore a high-speed ADC is no longer required. Without the use of inductor, carrier frequency and bandwidth of the DS/SS radar is software programmable, so that the GPR can be adapted to any encountered sub-surface conditions. Additionally, the DS/SS approach does not require a baseband FFT as the ranging information is naturally produced in time-domain, allowing for much lower power and making the DS/SS radar highly suitable for low power applications such as planetary exploration.



Fig 3.1 Proposed DS/SS based delay-correlating GPR

3.2. New DS/SS Based Delay-Correlating Radar SoC for GPR Application

3.2.1. DS/SS Radar System-on-chip

The block diagram of the proposed radar SoC is shown in Fig. 3.2. The transmitter (TX) consists of a wide tuning range phase-locked loop (PLL) providing programmable carrier frequency, a digital DS/SS sequence generator, a modulator and a wideband power amplifier (PA). The output of the digital DS/SS sequence generator directly modulates the output of the carrier PLL under on-off keying (OOK). A second global PLL provides digital clock for both TX and RX sequence generators.

A non-coherent receiver (RX) is implemented with an envelope detector (ED) after a wideband low noise amplifier. The ED output is correlated against the reference DS/SS sequence through an analog multiplier-based correlator. The reference DS/SS sequence is obtained by digitally delaying the TX sequence. For simplicity and more precise delay control, the same DS/SS sequence generator is duplicated in both transmitter and receiver rather than distributing the signal between them. Two generators start the same DS/SS sequence when the positive edge of each external trigger arrives. However, the trigger for the reference DS/SS sequence generator is delayed by a programmable delay block further controlled by a digital counter. The counter counts the number of triggers received, causing each DS/SS sequence to be incrementally delayed and therefore implementing the time-swept behavior of the reference DS/SS sequence. As the RX system only interrogates the received envelope not the phase, the phase noise requirements of the TX PLL are relaxed [37], allowing the use of a wide tuning range ring-VCO.



Fig 3.2 Block diagram of the DS/SS radar SoC

As shown in Fig. 3.2, external PA and LNA can be used to further extend penetration range of the proposed GPR SoC. With the use of a duplexer, only one tapered slot antenna is adopted for the radar system. In the radar IF path, time domain radar range information can be read out after an off-chip low-pass filter. There are many advantages to use this DS/SS approach for GPR ranging. First, it allows a higher degree of flexibility as a transmitter DAC and associated anti-alias filters are not required, while still offering the duty cycle benefits of continuous wave operations. Second, with no conventional RF up/down conversion present, the radar offers complete programmability over frequency and bandwidth. Third, without the use of a high speed ADC and baseband FFT, the DS/SS radar architecture lends itself well to low power consumption, which is crucial for low power GPR applications like planetary exploration.



Fig 3.3 Key time-domain waveform showing how the target is detected when the round-trip time-of-flight (*ToF*) matches counter delay of the receiver reference DS/SS

sequence

3.2.2. DS/SS Radar Ranging Principle

Fig. 3.3 illustrates the key time-domain waveform of the proposed radar system and demonstrates the DS/SS radar ranging scheme. The generated DS/SS codes are essentially a random bit sequence with equal counts of 0s and 1s. The length of the DS/SS sequence is designed to be programmable to tradeoff among acquisition time and effective signal-to-noise ratio (SNR), and maximum unambiguous range. The default sequence length is 32767 bits.

Assume there is one target at distance *d* away from the radar. The round-trip time-of-flight (*ToF*) will be 2d/c, where *c* is the speed of light. DS/SS radar TX keeps transmitting a DS/SS bit sequence (transmitted sequence). The radar RX captures the reflected signal from the object (received sequence), which is actually a time-shifted version of the transmitted sequence and the time-shift is equal to *ToF*. At the same time, the radar RX generates a tunable delayed copy of the transmitted sequence (reference sequence). The time delay of the reference DS/SS sequence is incremented by 1-bit time $T_d=1/BW$ at each repetition. The reference sequence is repeatedly

correlated against the received sequence through the RX correlator. When the reference sequence and received sequence are not lined up, their correlation result will be low because the DS/SS sequence is a random bit sequence with equal probably of 0 and 1, and therefore it is uncorrelated with the time-shifted version of itself. When the reference sequence and received sequence are lined up (in the case where the time delay is NT_d in Fig. 3.3), their correlation result will be high since the DS/SS sequence is correlated with itself, indicating a target existing at the range where *ToF* is equal to NT_d .

3.2.3. DS/SS Radar Range Bin

The correlation results from each shifted reference sequence is a "range bin" as it indicates if a target exists at the range with ToF equal to the time shifted. The bit-rate (bandwidth) of the DS/SS sequence sets the minimum time delay T_d that the reference sequence can shift and therefore sets the range resolution of the proposed radar. In actuality, the returns often occur at times between two different range bins and their correlated energy is spread between them, still allowing the target to be detected with no SNR degradation.

Since the unit bits of the DS/SS code is a rectangular function, its auto-correlation can be calculated as (3-1) and (3-2), where T_d is the chip time (1-bit time $T_d=1/BW$), N is the sequence length and $s_c(t)$ is the DS/SS code.

$$R_{xx}(\tau) = \frac{1}{NT_d} \int_0^{NT_d} s_c(t) \times s_c(t-\tau) dt$$
(3-1)

$$R_{xx}(\tau) = \begin{cases} 1 - |\tau|(N+1)/NT_d, & |\tau| \le T_d \\ -1/N, & |\tau| > T_d \end{cases}$$
(3-2)

Fig. 3.4(a) shows the auto-correlation functions of 3 continuous DS/SS code, which are triangle functions. As shown in Fig. 3.4(b), if the received DS/SS code is misaligned within $1T_d$ from two continuous reference code, bin splitting behavior will happen [41]. Misaligned DS/SS code will spread into 2 range bins, and detection amplitude of the two range bins will be proportional to the overlaps portion with the captured code. Under very high SNR case, range information can be further estimated beyond c/2B based on misalignment weighting.



Fig 3.4 (a) 3 continuous DS/SS codes and their auto-correlation functions. (b) Bin splitting behavior resulted from a misaligned captured DS/SS code [41]

Based on the auto-correlation function, radar robustness to clock jitter can also be analyzed. For a 1 GHz digital clock, the chip time T_d =1ns, and the simulated ring-VCO based PLL rms jitter is less than 300fs. This tells us that the rms jitter only occupies 0.03% of T_d and it almost does not affect the overall auto-correlation value. Therefore, DS/SS radar is very robust to clock jitter, which promises the use of ring-VCO in the clock PLL for an inductor-less design.

In the proposed DS/SS radar system, the bandwidth of the sequence is fully programmable up to 4GHz. With a 2GHz bandwidth, the range resolution is 7.5cm. Since the default sequence includes 32767 bits, each DS/SS sequence takes 16.4us to complete. 255 successive range bins have been implemented to cover a maximum range swath of 19m, which is enough for ground-penetrating application. Longer detection range can be achieved through reducing radar bandwidth. To further reduce the total measurement time, the reference delay can be programmed to sweep from iT_d to jT_d (*i*, *j* are programmable) instead of starting from 0 to $255T_d$. This works in the case when it is only interested in examining targets over a small range swath rather than the entire detecting range starting from the radar system's position. The maximum acquisition time for a 50-bin range swath is 0.82ms.

3.2.4. DS/SS Radar Dynamic Range Analysis

As shown in Fig. 3.5, there are two major noise sources in the radar receiver that can limit the receiver overall dynamic range: thermal noise and the noise coming from the uncorrelated DS/SS code. Let's calculate the contribution of thermal noise first. Assuming the receiver noise figure is 5dB under 1GHz-BW, with a non-coherent detection penalty of 5dB, thermal noise power at the receiver input in decibel meters can be calculated from

$$P_{therm} = 10\log_{10}kTBW + NF \tag{3-3}$$

where kT is thermal noise floor at room temperature, and P_{therm} =-74 dBm. Because the radar signal is correlated to itself and noise is totally uncorrelated by its nature, correlation at the receiver baseband can help improve the overall SNR by

$$G_{corre} = 10 \log_{10} \left(T_{corre} / T_d \right) \tag{3-4}$$

 T_{corre} is overall correlation time for a DS/SS sequence (assume $T_{corre}=1$ ms, which means the bandwidth after correlator $BW_{after}=1/T_{corre}=1$ kHz), and $T_d=1/BW_{before}=1$ ns is the chip time of the 1 GHz-BW DS/SS code. With these parameters, $G_{corre}=60$ dB. Therefore, the thermal noise induced DR is given by

$$DR_{therm} = P_{in} - P_{therm} + G_{corre} = P_{in} + 134 \ dB \tag{3-5}$$



Fig 3.5 Thermal noise and the noise from uncorrelated code in the radar receiver

Regarding to the noise from the uncorrelated DS/SS code, since the bandwidth before and after correlator is 1GHz and 1KHz respectively, the DS/SS noise suppression or uncorrelated code induced DR can be calculated by

$$DR_{corre} = 10 \log_{10} \left(BW_{before} / BW_{after} \right) = 60 \ dB \tag{3-6}$$

For typical GPR case, $P_{TX}=10$ dBm, path loss $L_{path}=50$ dB, $P_{in}=-40$ dBm, the resulted $DR_{therm}=94$ dB and $DR_{corre}=60$ dB. Therefore, for a DS/SS radar, dynamic range is usually limited by the uncorrelated code.

Furthermore, DS/SS radar can be considered reconfigurable because the uncorrelated code induced dynamic range is set by the time-length of the DS/SS sequence. The longer the sequence length, the lower the auto-correlation of the misaligned sequences will be. However, in such case the radar integration time will be longer. To sum up, it is a trade off between time and accuracy. For typical GPR application, where the radar scenes is static, DS/SS radar with a reconfigurable sequence length could be a suitable candidate to obtain high accuracy under the cost of more time.





Fig 3.6 Dynamic range comparison between DS/SS and FMCW radar: (a) When two targets are very close to each other. (b) When two targets are far away from each other

Dynamic range of a DS/SS radar system in comparison to state-of-the-art FMCW radar system is explained here:

As shown in Fig. 3.6(a), when two targets are very close to each other, conventional FMCW radar struggles in-close because the phase noise skirt can hide weak signals. The DS/SS waveform has lower auto-correlation at small range offsets compared to phase noise skirt levels, so it's easier to see targets close together with different amplitudes.

When two targets are far away from each other in Fig. 3.6(b), as range diversity increases between two targets, FMCW radar dynamic range improves while that of DS/SS radar stays the same.

In summary, for GPR application where the targets are stationary and close to each other, a DS/SS radar system can be a good alternative to state-of-the-art FMCW system with its robustness against phase noise skirt, as well as its superior power efficiency.

3.3. Radar Building Blocks and Key Circuit Design

3.3.1. Radar Transmitter

Fig. 3.7 shows the key circuits in the DS/SS radar TX chain. No inductor is used for the TX building blocks. A 1.0-4.0 GHz ring-VCO based Type-II PLL is designed for TX carrier generation, with 0.1-1.0 GHz available in the PLL-bypass mode. The envelope detector in the radar receiver removes the phase information prior to correlator, so the phase noise is less critical. An eight-stage inverter-based ring oscillator with a 2-bit programmable forward-interpolating buffer is adopted. Interpolating between phases that are nominally 90 degree apart with varying strength servers as a compact, low noise coarse-tuning alternative to switched capacitors and current-starving [42]. Small varactors are added at each stage for a reasonable K_{VCO} .



Fig 3.7 Building blocks of TX chain, and circuit implementation of the ring VCO

Deferential switch-based modulator is adopted for OOK modulation and to suppress the baseband to RF leakage. A resistor loaded wideband PA offers 4.9-5.2 dB gain from DC up to 4.0 GHz. The output power of the PA is 0 dBm. Additionally, this PA could work in standalone mode or serve as a pre-driver if external PA is used.

3.3.2. Clock PLL and DS/SS DSP

The digital sequence PLL provides digital clock for the DS/SS radar DSP (digital signal processor) and offers programmability for the radar bandwidth. It shares the same wide-tuning scheme as TX PLL through the use of ring VCO.



Fig 3.8 DS/SS radar DSP, and detail of the DS/SS sequence generator
As shown in Fig. 3.8, once the radar trigger signal goes up from 0 to 1, indicating the start of DS/SS radar operation, the TX/RX DSP starts to provide periodical DS/SS codes. The DS/SS sequence generator is essentially a pseudo-random binary sequence (PRBS) generator implemented through a 64-bit linear-feedback shift register (LFSR). There is flexibility to tune the effective DS/SS code length by reducing the LFSR number of bits. A 64-bit counter controls the delay of reference DS/SS code in the RX DSP, and the exact counter value is read out to calculate the target range information once the correlation peaks.

After digital synthesis and APR (automatic place & route) in 28-nm CMOS technology, the overall bound area for the DS/SS radar DSP is 9000 um² with an utilization rate around 50%. The radar DSP can work up to 4GHz clock rate and it consumes 26.2 mW power under 1 GHz clock rate.

3.3.3. Radar Receiver

On the RX side, as shown in Fig. 3.9, a 2-stage resistor loaded differential LNA offers 12.2 dB gain up to 4.0 GHz with 4.7 dB NF. The LNA is designed to trade between linearity and NF, and -5.9 dBm IP_{1dB} is achieved to mitigate TX-RX leakage and coupling. A resistor-feedback based TIA converts the output current of the envelop detector into voltage and extracts the amplitude information of the received radar signal. The bandwidth of the TIA is tunable through the feedback resistor. Differential outputs of the pre-amplifier are fed into the correlator to correlate against the reference DS/SS sequence. Thereafter, correlator output is further amplified by a resistor loaded IF amplifier and then sent out of chip as radar output. The DC operation

points of all the differential amplifiers in the RX are monitored through an Op-Amp-based sensor for DC offset cancellation.



Fig 3.9 Building blocks of the radar RX chain, and circuit implementation of the envelope detector and correlator

3.4. Measurements and Discussions

The prototype DS/SS radar SoC is fabricated in 28-nm 1P7M HPC CMOS process. Fig. 3.10(a) shows the chip micrograph. The total chip area is 1.89 mm² including pads (1350 um by 1400 um), while the core area is only 0.42 mm². From the chip die photo, it is clear that no inductor is used for the SoC design. Under a 1-V supply, the chip consumes 46.2 mW. The power break down of the radar SoC is summarized in Fig. 3.10(b).

	DS/SS Radar SoC	DS/SS Radar SoC Power Breakdown	
USART Receiver Receiver 1350 um	Transmitter	4.2 mW	
	Receiver	13.3 mW	
	Clock PLL	2.5 mW	
	DS/SS DSP	26.2 mW	
	Total	46.2 mW	
(a)	(b	(b)	

Fig 3.10 (a) Chip micrograph. (b) Power breakdown of the DS/SS radar SoC



Fig 3.11 (a) DS/SS GPR PCB detail. (b) DS/SS GPR SoC assembled to PCB

As shown in Fig. 3.11(a), a custom-made printed circuit board (PCB) provides DC power, PLL reference, radar trigger, and control signals for the radar chip. Wire bond is used for SoC-PCB interconnect as shown in Fig. 3.11(b). 3.4.1. Radar Loopback Test

Time domain radar TX output waveform is first measured with a Keysight Oscilloscope DSO6034A. Fig. 3.12(a) and (b) show the TX output waveforms for a 1.0 GHz-BW DS/SS sequence with a carrier frequency of 1.5 and 2.5 GHz, respectively.



Fig 3.12 (a) Measured time-domain TX waveform with $F_c=1.5$ GHz and BW=1.0 GHz. (b)

Measured time-domain TX waveform with F_C =2.5 GHz and BW=1.0 GHz



Fig 3.13 TX to RX loopback test with a 2-meter external coaxial cable

To characterize the DS/SS radar function, a direct TX to RX loopback test is done by connecting the TX and RX with a 2-meter long coaxial cable. Fig. 3.13 shows the setup for the loopback the test. The loopback test result is shown in Fig. 3.14, where the radar produces a step signal in the range bin associated with the cable length. Double bounce along the length of the cable is visible as well due to the imperfect matching.



Fig 3.14 DS/SS GPR SoC TX to RX loopback test result

3.4.2. In Field GPR Test

The capability of the DS/SS GPR has been validated for the actual ground penetrating operation. As shown in Fig. 3.15(a), the PCB that contains the GPR SoC is mounted onto a test rover which carries an embedded host computer with a 100 KS/s sampling ADC, an external LNA ZVA-183+ with 3 dB NF and 20 dB gain, a Krytar duplexer with 20dB isolation, and a 10dBi PCB tapered slot antennas (detail shown in Fig. Fig. 3.15(b)).



Fig 3.15 (a) DS/SS GPR rover prototype. (b) Detail of the DS/SS GPR rover prototype



Fig 3.16 Measurement result of the DS/SS GPR with a testing rover over a roadway containing a sub-surface drainage conduit. The road surface, the gravel underneath and the bottom of the drain structure around 0.5m below the road surface are clearly visible

The rover ran over a roadway with a storm drain passing beneath it. From the captured GPR data in Fig. 3.16 (DS/SS correlation power for different depth), it is evidenced that the GPR can clearly resolve the road surface, the gravel layer beneath it, and the bottom surface of the storm drain approximately 0.5m below the roadway surface. This scan has been consistently performed with the same 2.5 GHz carrier / 1.0 GHz bandwidth settings as in the loopback test.

Due to limited number of CMOS GPR reported, Table. 3.1 compares the DS/SS radar with the prior arts operating at similar frequencies for various applications [43-45]. Among all, this presented radar SoC achieves the largest fractional bandwidth due to its inductor-less nature, as well as its superior efficiency in both area (1.89 mm²) and power consumption (46.2 mW).

	[43] Andersen, JSSC' 17	[44] Chu, ISSCC' 11	[45] Lou, ISSCC' 18	This work
Technology	55nm	130nm	65nm	28nm
Frequency	7.2-8.5GHz	2-5GHz	10GHz	0.1-4GHz
Modulation	Impulse	Impulse	FMCW	DS/SS Code
Mod. BW	1.4GHz	0.9GHz	1GHz	1GHz (tunable)*
BW/F _c	17.8%	25.7%	10%	40%**
TX P _{OUT}	0.7dBm	N.A.	10dBm	0dBm
Die Area	8.6mm ²	11.9mm ²	7.8mm ²	1.89mm ²
Power Consumption	118mW	695mW	141mW/Ch	46.2mW***

*Radar BW can be programmed up to 4.0 GHz. 1.0 GHz BW is used for in-field GPR prototype measurement in Fig. 7. **Calculated under in-field GPR measurement setup with 2.5 GHz carrier / 1.0 GHz BW. ***SoC power only.

Table 3.1 Performance summary of the DS/SS GPR SoC and comparison with previous

state-of-the-art radars

CHAPTER 4

Conclusion and Future Work

This dissertation focused on spread spectrum based digital-intensive radar system design in advanced CMOS processes for automotive and ground-penetrating applications. Specifically, two digital modulated/coded CMOS radars based on frequency hopping spread spectrum and direct sequence spread spectrum have been devised, realized and demonstrated to overcome the conventional analog radar's performance degradation from AM/FM distortions.

First, practical impairments that limit the performance of analog FMCW radars are carefully analyzed. Envelop fluctuation induced AM distortion and chirp non-linearity induced FM distortion introduce significant performance degradation in an FMCW radar, causing the beat frequency f_{beat} to spread out over the spectrum and resulting in tone splitting after FFT. To avoid these limitations from the conventional analog type FMCW radar, two newly proposed digital modulated/coded CMOS radar is presented in this dissertation.

Second, a W-band 89-93 GHz multi-user interference-tolerant FHCW radar with 4-GHz bandwidth / 3.75-cm range resolution is demonstrated for automotive application. Frequency hopping technique with one-coincidence codes is used to achieve multiplexing in the code domain, which can effectively mitigate the radar interference in an multi-user environment. A prototype radar module with the 28-nm CMOS TX/RX chip, a Rogers patch antenna and FR4

substrate is developed for the OTA verification, whose results validate the orthogonality property of the chosen one-coincidence codes and demonstrate the multi-user support capability of the radar.

Finally, a 0.1-4.0 GHz broadband DS/SS based all-digital radar SoC is developed for ground-penetrating application. Radar ranging is accomplished in code domain rather than through a chirp or pulse, which allows a higher degree of flexibility and programmability. Without conventional up/down conversion, the SoC offers complete programmability over frequency and bandwidth, allowing it to be adopted to various sub-surface conditions. In-field GPR test with actual rover prototype validates the capability of the DS/SS radar. The 28-nm prototype radar SoC achieves a fine resolution of 3.75 cm and consumes 46.2 mW, which makes it suitable for low power applications such as planetary exploration in the future.

To sum up, comparing with conventional analog radar, digital modulated/coded radar is more robust to circuit impairments and chirp non-linearity. It's also more scaling-friendly with advanced CMOS technologies. In addition, flexibility and programmability obtained from a digital-intensive radar does benefit a lot for many practical applications.

For future work, a lot of research can be carried out to further improve the performance of these digital modulated/coded radars. For example, TX-RX leakage cancellation with calibration algorithm and hardware implementation, coherent GPR TRX design for receiver sensitivity improvement. Furthermore, a reconfigurable radar that combines the functions of analog FMCW radar and digital modulated/coded radar can be realized in a single CMOS chip.

REFERENCES

- H. Jia et al., "A 77 GHz frequency doubling two-path phased-array FMCW transceiver for automotive radar," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 51, no. 10, pp. 2299-2311, Oct. 2016.
- [2] C. Hung et al., "Toward automotive surround-view radars," in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. (ISSCC) Dig. Tech. Papers, Feb. 2019, pp. 162–164.
- [3] V. Giannini et al., "A 79 GHz phase-modulated 4 GHz-BW CW radar transmitter in 28 nm CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no. 12, pp. 2925-2937, Dec. 2014.
- [4] D. Guermandi et al., "A 79 GHz 2x2 MIMO PMCW radar SoC in 28nm CMOS," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 2613-2626, Oct. 2017.
- [5] B. P. Ginsburg et al., "A multimode 76-to-81GHz automotive radar transceiver with autonomous monitoring," in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. (ISSCC) Dig.Tech. Papers, Feb. 2019, pp. 162–164.
- [6] V. Giannini et al., "A 192-virtual-receiver 77/79GHz GMSK code-domain MIMO radar system-on-chip," in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. (ISSCC) Dig.Tech. Papers, Feb. 2019, pp. 164–166.
- [7] Y. Kim, A. Tang, K. Liou, T. H. Painter and M. F. Chang, "A Ku-band CMOS FMCW radar transceiver with ring oscillator based waveform generation for snowpack remote sensing," *in IEEE MTT Int. Microw. Symp. Dig. (IMS)*, June 2017, pp. 64–66.

- [8] Y. Kim et al., "A Ku-band CMOS FMCW radar transceiver for snowpack remote sensing," IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Techn., vol. 66, no. 5, pp. 2480-2494, May 2018.
- [9] R. Huang et al., "A 0.1 4.0-GHz inductorless direct-sequence spread-spectrum-based ground-penetrating radar system-on-chip," *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 827-830, June 2021.
- [10] A. Tang, E. Decrossas, Y. Gim, R. Huang, R. Beauchamp and M. F. Chang, "Surface cancellation in wideband ground penetrating radar employing genetic algorithm AI for waveform synthesis," *in IEEE MTT Int. Microw. Symp. Dig. (IMS)*, June 2021, pp. 811-814.
- [11] J. Hasch et al., "Millimeter-wave technology for automotive radar sensors in the 77 GHz frequency band," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Techn.*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 845-860, Mar. 2012.
- [12] T. Mitomo et al., "A 77 GHz 90nm CMOS transceiver for FMCW radar application," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 928-937, Apr. 2010.
- [13] J. Vovnoboy, R. Levinger, N. Mazor, and D. Elad, "A dual-loop synthesizer with fast frequency modulation ability for 77/79 GHz FMCW automotive radar applications," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 1328-1337, May 2018.
- [14] A. Tang, Y. Kim, Y. Zhang, R. Huang and M. F. Chang, "A W-band FMCW radar system-on-chip employing synchronized switching digitally controlled artificial dielectric for chirp," *in IEEE MTT Int. Microw. Symp. Dig. (IMS)*, June 2019, pp. 677-679.

- [15] M. Kalantari, H. Shirinabadi, A. Fotowat-Ahmadi, and C. P. Yue, "A single-antenna W-band FMCW radar front-end utilizing adaptive leakage cancellation," *in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. (ISSCC) Dig.Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2020, pp. 88–90.
- [16] J. Park, H. Ryu, K. Ha, J. Kim, and D. Baek, "76-81-GHz CMOS transmitter with a phase-locked-loop-based multichirp modulator for automotive radar," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Techn.*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 1399-1408, Apr. 2015.
- [17] A. Tang et al., "A 144GHz 0.76cm-resolution sub-carrier SAR phase radar for 3D imaging in 65nm CMOS", in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. (ISSCC) Dig.Tech. Papers, Feb. 2012, pp. 264-266.
- [18] D. Cherniak et al., "A 23GHz low-phase-noise digital bang-bang PLL for fast triangular and saw-tooth chirp modulation," in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. (ISSCC) Dig.Tech. Papers, Feb. 2018, pp. 248–250.
- [19] R. Huang, C. Chiang, C. Liang, Y. Kim, Y. Kuan and M. F. Chang, "A W-Band 4-GHz BW multiuser interference-tolerant radar with 28-nm CMOS front ends," *IEEE Solid-State Circuits Letters*, vol. 3, pp. 414-417, 2020, Sept. 2020.
- [20] L. Yujiri, M. Shoucri, and P. Moffa, "Passive millimeter wave imaging," *IEEE Microw*. Mag., vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 39–50, Sep. 2003.
- [21] V. Le et al., "A CMOS 77-GHz receiver front-end for automotive radar," IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Techn., vol. 61, no. 10, pp. 3783–3793, Oct. 2013.

- [22] J. Lee, Y. Li, M. Hung, and S. Huang, "A fully-integrated 77-GHz FMCW radar transceiver in 65-nm CMOS technology," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, no. 12, pp. 2746–2756, Dec. 2010.
- [23] W. Wu et al., "A mm-Wave FMCW radar transmitter based on a multirate ADPLL," in IEEE Radio Freq. Integr. Circuits Symp. (RFIC), Jun. 2013, pp. 107–110.
- [24] J. Wenger, "Automotive radar—Status and perspectives," in IEEE Compound Semicond. Integr. Circuit Symp., Oct. 2005, pp. 21–25.
- [25] W. Menzel, "Millimeter-wave radar for civil applications," in IEEE Eur. Radar Conf., Oct. 2010, pp. 89–92.
- [26] T. Luo, C. Wu, and Y. Chen, "77-GHz CMOS automotive radar transceiver with anti-interference function," *IEEE Trans. on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 3247-3255, Dec. 2013.
- [27] Y. Wu, Y. Kuan, and M. F. Chang, "Interference-tolerant multi-user radar system using one-coincidence frequency hopping code with 1GHz bandwidth at 24 GHz," *in IEEE MTT Int. Microw. Symp. Dig. (IMS)*, May 2016.
- [28] B. Li, "One-coincidence sequences with specified distance between adjacent symbols for frequency-hopping multiple access," *IEEE Trans. on Communications*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 408-410, Apr. 1997.

- [29] L. D. Wronski, R. Hossain and A. Albicki, "Extended hyperbolic congruential frequency hop code: generation and bounds for cross- and auto-ambiguity function," *IEEE Trans. on Communications*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 301-305, Mar. 1996.
- [30] J. Costas, "A study of a class of detection waveforms having nearly ideal range-Doppler ambiguity properties," *in Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 72, no. 8, pp. 996-1009, Aug. 1984.
- [31] M. Skolnik, Introduction to Radar Systems. New York, NY, USA: McGraw-Hill, 2001.
- [32] C. Chiang, N. Liu, R. Huang, C. Wu and Y. Kuan, "A dual W-band high-order mode substrate integrated waveguide cavity-backed antenna for radar sensing and communication applications," *in IEEE Asia-Pacific Microwave Conference (APMC)*, Dec. 2020, pp. 158-160.
- [33] C. Chiang, R. Huang, C. Liang, C. Wu and Y. Kuan, "A 3-D pillar-based electromagnetic interference shield for W-band antenna on silicon using wire bonding technology," *IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging and Manufacturing Technology*, vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 2238-2241, Dec. 2021.
- [34] B. Razavi, RF Microelectronics. Englewood Cliffs, NJ, USA: Prentice-Hall, 1997.
- [35] A. Melzer, F. Starzer, H. Jäger, and M. Huemer, "Real-time mitigation of short-range leakage in automotive FMCW radar transceivers," *IEEE Trans. on Circuits and Systems II: Exp. Briefs*, vol. 64, no. 7, pp. 847-851, Jul. 2017.

- [36] Y. Kim et al., "30 Gb/s 60.2 mW 151 GHz CMOS transmitter/receiver with digitally pre-distorted current mode PAM-4 modulator for plastic waveguide and contactless communications," *in IEEE MTT Int. Microw. Symp. Dig. (IMS)*, Jun. 2019, pp. 673 – 676.
- [37] Y. Kim et al., "A millimeter-wave CMOS transceiver with digitally pre-distorted PAM-4 modulation for contactless communications," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1600-1612, Jun. 2017.
- [38] S. Hamran et. al., "RIMFAX: A GPR for the Mars 2020 rover mission," 2015 8th International Workshop on Advanced Ground Penetrating Radar (IWAGPR), pp. 1-4, 2015.
- [39] V. Ciarletti et. al., "WISDOM GPR designed for shallow and high-resolution sounding of the Martian subsurface," *in Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 99, no. 5, pp. 824-836, May 2011.
- [40] G. Wang et. al., "Wireless vital sign monitoring using penetrating impulses," IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 94-96, Jan. 2017.
- [41] A. Tang, R. Carey, G. Virbila, Y. Zhang, R. Huang, and M. F. Chang, "A delay-correlating direct-sequence spread-spectrum (DS/SS) radar system-on-chip operating at 183-205 GHz in 28nm CMOS," *IEEE Trans. on Terahertz Science and Technology*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 212-220, Mar. 2020.
- [42] Y. Zhang et al., "A 23.6-38.3GHz low-noise PLL with digital ring oscillator and multi-ratio injection-locked dividers for millimeter-wave sensing," *in IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC)*, Aug. 2020, pp. 3 - 6.

- [43] N. Andersen et al., "A 118mW pulse-based radar SoC in 55nm CMOS for non-contact human vital signs detection," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 12, pp. 3421-3433, Dec. 2017.
- [44] T. Chu et al., "A short-range UWB impulse-radio CMOS sensor for human feature detection," in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. (ISSCC) Dig. Tech. Papers, Feb. 2011, pp. 294–296.
- [45] L. Lou et. al., "A 253mW/Channel 4TX/4RX pulsed chirping phased-array radar TRX in 65nm CMOS for X-Band synthetic aperture radar imaging," *in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. (ISSCC) Dig.Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2018, pp. 160–162.